F SID J. WHITE

CLERK, S

FEB /28/ 1991

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NOS.: 76,476; 77-135; 77,192; 77,193 By.

Deputy Clerk

DISTRICT COURT CASE NO: 88-1419 & 87-2250

CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO: 85-52953

ARTHUR W. KUSH, M.D., ETC., ET AL.

PETITIONERS,

vs .

BRANDON DAVID LLOYD, A MINOR CHILD,
BY AND THROUGH HIS PARENTS,
ANTHONY D. LLOYD AND DIANE S. LLOYD,
AND ANTHONY D. LLOYD AND
DIANE S. LLOYD, INDIVIDUALLY,

RESPONDENTS.

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS
OF PETITIONER, ARTHUR W. KUSH, M.D.

STEPHENS, LYNN, KLEIN & McNICHOLAS, P.A. 9100 South Dadeland Boulevard One Datran Center, Suite 1500 Miami, Florida 33156 (305) 662-2626

DEBRA J. SNOW (331767) ROBERT M. KLEIN (230022)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This ppeal arises out of a medical malpractice action in which Respondents are seeking to recover damages associated with Brandon David Lloyds' genetic birth defects. The allegations relied upon by the Lloyds are set forth in detail in their Third Amended Complaint. (R. 259-277)'

On March 5, 1976 Diane and Anthony Lloyd became the parents of Michael Anthony Lloyd. Michael Lloyd was born with severe mental and physical defects and deformities. Later that year the Lloyds' pediatrician, Dr. Pedro Diaz, referred the Lloyds to Dr. Arthur Maislen at the University of Miami for chromosome testing. The purpose of the referral was to determine whether Michael's condition was the result of an inheritable genetic defect or if it was an accident of nature, so that Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd could decide whether to have more children. (R.262)

Paul M. Tocci, Ph.D. of the Mailman Center Genetic Laboratory and cytogenetic technologists Jerrie Gilbert and Charles Norman performed the chromosome studies, which included both karyotyping and fluorescent banding studies. Dr. Maislen advised Dr. Diaz that the results of the karyotyping studies had been received and revealed no abnormalities. Dr. Maislen allegedly told Dr. Diaz

As the clerk's office of the Third District Court of Appeal has indicated that the Third Amended Complaint cannot be located for inclusion **in** the record, **a** copy has been attached to this brief for this Court's convenience.

that the results of the fluorescent banding studies had not yet been received, but that Dr. Diaz would be contacted when the results were received if they showed anything more than normal chromosomes. Subsequently Dr. Maislen left the University of Miami and was replaced by Dr. Juliet Hananian. For some unknown reason, the results of the fluorescent banding studies were never transmitted to Dr. Diaz or the Lloyds. (R.263)

The Lloyds allege that Dr. Diaz told them that Michael's condition was an accident of nature rather than an inheritable genetic defect and that they should have another child. The Lloyds received no further health care treatment from Dr. Diaz or the aforementioned individuals at the University of Miami/Mailman Center after December 31, 1978. (R.264-265)

Mrs. Lloyd became pregnant twice in 1982, but both pregnancies ended in miscarriages. By this time Mrs. Lloyd had come under the care of Petitioner Kush. Mrs. Lloyd became pregnant again in the spring of 1983, and on December 24, 1983 gave birth to Brandon David Lloyd. Brandon was born with essentially the same defects and deformities **as** was his brother Michael. (R.265)

Subsequent chromosome testing upon Brandon revealed that he has a genetic abnormality known as 10p trisomy. The Lloyds then obtained the raw data from the chromosome studies which had been performed upon Michael at the University of Miami and forwarded the data to the lab which had tested Brandon. Upon reviewing the data the Fuller Cytogenetics Laboratory determined that Michael has the same 10p trisomy genetic abnormality as does Brandon, and that bath

Michael and Brandon has inherited this condition from their mother. (R.266)

The Lloyds' initial complaint for medical malpractice was filed December 24, 1985. The third amended complaint asserts claims for "wrongful life" on behalf of Brandon, and claims for "wrongful birth" on behalf of Diane and Anthony Lloyd. The Lloyds have sought recovery for the extraordinary expenses necessitated by Brandon's condition as well as damages for the mental anguish experienced by those involved.(R.1-20)

The lawsuit proceeded through discovery and various proceedings which are not of import to this appeal. While the Third Amended Complaint was pending a motion to strike Brandon's claim for wrongful life was filed. The Defendants also sought to strike Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd's claims for mental anguish. (R.333-345) The trial court granted the Defendants' motions and struck Brandon's entire claim as well as his parents' claim far mental anguish. (R.605-607)

The Plaintiffs appealed the order striking the claims to the Third District Court of Appeal.(R.617-618) The District Court determined that the ruling striking Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd's claim for mental anguish was not a final appealable order, and so could not be reviewed at that time. As the order striking Brandon's claim was a final appealable order, that appeal was allowed to proceed under case number 87-2250.

In the interim the Plaintiffs filed a Fourth Amended Complaint. (R.512-531) Dr. Diaz filed a motion for summary

judgment as to Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd's remaining claims, asserting that they were barred by the four year statute of repose provision contained within Section 95.11(4)(b) (1985), Florida Statutes. similar motions were filed by Defendants Dr. Tocci, Ms. Gilbert, Mr. Norman, the University of Miami, Dr. Maislen, Dr. Hananian, and by the North Broward Hospital District. (R.725-729, 751-754, 758-760,840-843) No such motion was filed on behalf of Dr. Kush as Petitioner had rendered care and treatment to Brandon and Mrs. Lloyd within the four years preceding the filing of the lawsuit.

The trial court entered final summary judgment on behalf of the moving Defendants. (R.1659-1660) The Plaintiffs appealed, seeking review not only of the summary judgment on the statute of repose issue, but also of the interlocutory order striking Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd's claim for damages for mental anguish. (R.888-890) Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd's claim for wrongful birth, minus the claim for damages for mental anguish, remains pending in the trial court against Dr. Kush.

Diane and Anthony Lloyd's claims against Petitioner Kush as presently alleged in the Fourth Amended Complaint are that he was negligent in: failing to counsel Diane S. Lloyd against pregnancy until she had ruled out genetic abnormality as a cause for Michael's condition; failing to perform chromosomal studies on the products of gestation of Diane S. Lloyd's miscarriages; failing to perform amniocentesis when Diane S. Lloyd became pregnant under his care for the third time; failing to warn Diane S. Lloyd that her pregnancy with Brandon David Lloyd would probably result in a

child with the same condition as Michael A. Lloyd; and failing to exercise reasonable care under all of the surrounding circumstances. The claims against Dr. Kush were stayed during the pendency of the appeals before the Third District Court of Appeals.

The appeal filed by Brandon Lloyd in case number 87-2250 was consolidated with that filed by his parents in case number 88-1419. Oral argument in the consolidated appeals was held before the Third District Court of Appeals on June 8, 1989. The District Court issued its opinion on July 10, 1990. (R.1664-1675)

The court reversed the summary judgment entered in favor of Defendants on the statute of limitations argument. The court also reversed the trial court's order striking Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd's claim for mental anguish. The court concluded that the impact rule did not apply in this instance to bar the recovery of damages for mental anguish in the absence of a physical injury or manifestation, and that if the impact rule did apply, its requirements had been satisfied. The Third District certified that its ruling on this issue expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeals in MOORES V. LUCAS, 405 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981).

while the Third District held that Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd could recover compensatory damages for the special care expenses for Brandon as well as damages for their mental anguish, the court upheld the trial court's ruling striking all of Brandon's claims for wrongful life.

All of the Defendants except for Dr. Kush filed motions for rehearing directed in large part to the court's decision on the statute of limitations issue. Petitioner Kush timely filed a notice to invoke this Court's jurisdiction in order to seek review of the Third District's decision. This Court accepted jurisdiction of this case, but stayed the briefing schedule pending the disposition by the District Court of the outstanding motions for rehearing.

On December 18, 1990 the Third District entered an order denying the motions for rehearing. The court did, however, acknowledge that in interpreting the provisions of Florida Statutes, Section 95.11(4)(b) (1985) it was ruling upon a question of great public importance. (R.1676-1677) The remaining Defendants then filed notices to invoke this Court's jurisdiction. This Court has accepted jurisdiction of all of the cases, which have been consolidated.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal permitting Diane and Anthony Lloyd to seek recovery for the mental anguish they have experienced in connection with the birth of their genetically impaired son Brandon should be reversed. The court's ruling allowing the recovery of damages for mental anguish in a negligence case in **the** absence of a physical impact or manifestation violates the impact rule as set forth by the Florida Supreme Court.

The parameters of the impact rule are set forth in the decisions of CHAMPION v. GRAY, 478 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1985) and BROWN v. CADILLAC MOTOR CAR DIVISION, 468 So.2d 903 (Fla. 1985). The Court refused in CHAMPION to expand the impact rule to the point where an individual could recover for the purely subjective and speculative damages which arise solely from emotional trauma, due to the potential for fraudulent claims, and in order to maintain some form of limit on what are otherwise indefinable and unmeasurable psychic claims.

The impact rule has not been substantially modified since the BROWN and CHAMPION decisions. It clearly applies in this case to bar the claims of Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd for mental anguish. Yet the Third District Court of Appeal held that the impact rule did not apply to the facts of this case. It further held that if the impact rule was found to apply it had in fact been satisfied.

Neither of these conclusions is correct. Pursuant to BROWN and CHAMPION the impact rule does apply to Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd's claim for mental anguish. Moreover, the "impact" identified by the Third District is not sufficient to satisfy the rule.

The examples of "impact" identified by the Third District are not what has caused the Lloyds' mental anguish. The source of their emotional pain is not a physical injury to themselves; rather the source is genetic deformity experienced by their son Brandon. Brandon's physical condition does not satisfy the impact rule as to his parents. Additionally, Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd have not experienced a physical manifestation of their emotional distress so as to satisfy the rule.

As the claim of Diane and Anthony Lloyd for mental anguish is barred by the impact rule the decision of the Third District Court of appeal authorizing their recovery of such damages should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT **ERR** IN STRIKING MR. AND MRS. LLOYD'S CLAIMS FOR MENTAL ANGUISH.

The Third District Court of Appeals has ruled that Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd are entitled to recover damages for mental anguish in addition to recovering extraordinary expenses associated with raising Brandon David Lloyd. While the Third District's holding with respect to the recovery of extraordinary expenses is in accordance with prevailing Florida law on that point, the court's ruling on the Lloyd's right to recover damages for mental anguish is in direct conflict with the holding of MOORES v. LUCAS, 405 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981) and PAZO v. UPJOHN COMPANY, 310 So.2d 30 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1975), as well as with this Court's decisions on the impact doctrine.

The law on the impact rule is set forth in this Court's decisions in CHAMPION V. GRAY, 478 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1985) and BROWN V. CADILLAC MOTOR CAR DIVISION, 468 So.2d 903 (Fla. 1985). Prior to the CHAMPION decision, one simply could not recover for emotional distress which had been caused by the negligence of another in the absence of physical impact. The CHAMPION court modified the impact rule in order to align it with the public policy of this state, i.e., to compensate for physical injury and the attendant lost wages and/or physical and mental suffering which flow from the consequences of a physical injury. Nevertheless, in CHAMPION, the Supreme Court refused to expand the impact rule to

the point where an individual could recover for the purely subjective and speculative damages which arise solely from emotional trauma, due to the potential for fraudulent claims, and in order to maintain some form of limit on what are otherwise indefinable and unreasonable psychic claims.

While the Lloyds have undoubtedly suffered emotional distress as a result of their son's condition, this emotional distress cannot be considered as a result of any physical injury to the Lloyds; nor has their emotional distress manifested itself in a physical injury. As was noted in BROWN and CHAMPION, supra, psychological trauma must cause a demonstrable physical injury such as death, paralysis, muscular impairment, or some other form of similar, objectively discernible physical impairment before a cause of action may exist, where the psychological trauma was caused by simple negligence, rather than some sort of intentional tort.

The parents' right to recover for mental pain and suffering which is allegedly sustained as the result of the birth of a deformed child was specifically rejected on the basis of the impact doctrine in PAZO V. UPJOHN COMPANY, supra, The Pazos maintained that a drug which had been manufactured by the Upjohn Company and which had been prescribed to Mrs. Pazo during her pregnancy resulted in birth defects to their child. The trial court struck the Pazos' claim for mental pain and suffering, finding that there was no "impact" between the drug and the parents. The appellate court affirmed the trial court's ruling on the basis of the impact doctrine.

The same result was reached in MOORES v. LUCAS, supra. There the court observed:

On the issue of damages, we agree with the defendants that the claim for physical pain and suffering and mental anguish of Linda Moores arising from her pregnancy and giving birth was properly stricken, since Linda Moores wanted to become pregnant and bear a child, and the pregnancy and delivery in connection with Justi were no more difficult or painful than if he had been normal. The claim for past and future emotional pain and suffering were properly stricken on the basis of the impact doctrine. (Citations omitted.) 405 So.2d at 1026.

In the instant case, the Lloyds are not seeking emotional damages because Mrs. Lloyd unintentionally became pregnant. To the contrary, the evidence demonstrated that Mrs. Lloyd wanted to become pregnant and give birth, albeit to a healthy child. The record also does not demonstrate that the actual birth was any more difficult because of Brandon's deformities.

Presumably, the only emotional damage which is reflected by the record relates to the difficulties that are inherent in any attempt to raise a handicapped child. While Petitioner certainly comprehends the considerable stress and anxiety which accompanies that process, nevertheless, those "damages" are not compensable.

The Third District rejected the application of the impact rule, relying primarily on Prosser & Keeton on The Law of Torts, Sec. 54 at 361 (1984), while essentially ignoring this Court's decisions in CHAMPION and BROWN. While Prosser and Keeton may be interpreted as supporting the Third District's decision to a limited extent, the same cannot be said of CHAMPION and BROWN.

The issue of Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd's entitlement to recover damages for their emotional anguish should have been resolved simply by reference to this Court's observation in CHAMPION that:

We reiterate that a claim for psychic trauma unaccompanied by discernible bodily injury, when caused by injuries to another and not otherwise specifically provided for by statute, remains nonexistent. 478 So.2d at 20, ftnte. 4.

When Respondents' claim is stripped of its rhetoric and closely examined it is evident that the Lloyds are claiming mental anguish not because of any physical injury to themselves, but rather because of the deformities experienced by their son. Under CHAMPION and BROWN these damages are simply not recoverable.

The Third District's interpretation and application of the impact rule goes far beyond the modifications this Court authorized in CHAMPION. The District Court ignored the Court's requirement of a discernible bodily injury and instead extended the scope of recovery to include damages for mental anguish so long as there has been "an injury to the parents' legally protected interest, for which the parents are entitled to compensatory damages...." This expansion of the impact rule is both unauthorized by the law established by this Court and unwise. The very reasons which the Court cited in CHAMPION for refusing to expand the impact rule further are still viable today.

While the Third District initially stated that the impact rule does not apply to Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd's claims, it then tempered this statement somewhat, stating that if the impact rule does apply

it has been satisfied in this instance. The impact noted by the court was that "Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd submitted to physical testing after Michael's birth and on the basis of the medical advice, Mrs. Lloyd proceeded through two unsuccessful pregnancies, as well as the birth of Brandon." These events, or at least certain of them, arguably had some physical involvement on the part of the Lloyds. However, this physical involvement is not sufficient to satisfy the impact rule.

According to this Court's pronouncements on the impact rule the mental anguish must either be the result of a physical injury to the plaintiff or must be such as to manifest itself in a discernible bodily injury. The examples cited by the Third District satisfy neither option.

The Lloyds are not claiming mental anguish because they had to undergo genetic testing or because Mrs. Lloyd experienced two miscarriages. Nor is Mrs. Lloyd seeking recovery for mental anguish as the result of the physical experience of giving birth to Brandon. Rather, the Lloyds are seeking to recover for "the horror of ... giving birth to a child with abnormal facies and severe psychomotor retardation" and "the mental anguish of symbolically watching the death of his [her] child everyday for the rest of his [her] life." These simply are not the injuries which the Third District identified as satisfying the impact rule.

The horror of giving birth to a deformed child and of "symbolically watching the death of a child" are not physical injuries. There are no allegations in the record that the

resulting horror and mental anguish have manifested in any discernible bodily injury. The requirements of the impact rule have clearly not been met, and so recovery of damages for mental anguish should not be permitted. The opinion of the Third District permitting Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd to seek damages for the mental anguish arising out of the birth of their son Brandon is inconsistent with its holding that Brandon does not have a cause of action for wrongful life. Although the court was not explicit in its explanation as to why Brandon does not have a cause of action it does appear that the Third District agrees with the reasoning of the Fifth District in MOORES, at least on this issue.

The MOORES court held in part that a cause of action for wrongful life should not be recognized because of the impossibility of determining whether it is preferable to be born in an impaired state or not to be born at all. By allowing the Lloyds to seek damages for their mental anguish the District Court is placing a jury in the equally untenable position of determining whether Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd suffered more mental anguish as a result of becoming parents to Brandon than they would have experienced had they been told they should never have any more children because of the possibility that they would have a similar defect.

It is entirely possible and preferable for this Court to allow Diane and Anthony Lloyd to recover for the extraordinary expenses associated with raising Brandon while denying them recovery for their mental anguish. Such a result would preserve the integrity of the impact rule while ensuring that Brandon's special needs would be met. It would, however, avoid placing a judge or jury in the impossible position of having to determine if Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd would have been better off had Brandon never been born, as that is exactly the decision the trier of fact would have to make in resolving the claim for mental anguish.

Courts of several other jurisdictions which have faced these issues have found it entirely consistent and equitable to allow the parents to recover for the extraordinary expenses associated with raising a handicapped child, while denying recovery to the parents for their mental distress and holding that the child himself does not have a cause of action. See, e.g., BECKER V. SCHWARTZ, 386 N.E.2d 807, 46 N.Y.2d 40 (N.Y. Ct. App., 1978). The BECKER court observed:

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