$7 \omega$ 19**91** AAK JPREME COURT CLERK. lerk By-Chief Deputy C

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ARTHUR W. KUSH, M.D.; NORTH BROWARD HOSPITAL DISTRICT, ARTHUR A. MAISLEN, M.D.; JULIET G. HANANIAN, M.D.; PAUL TOCCI; CHARLES G. NORMAN; JERRIE DIANNE GILERT; THE UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI; and PEDRO A. DIAZ, M.D.,

Petitioners,

VS.

CONSOLIDATED CASE NOS/ 76,476; 77, 135; 77,192 AND 77,193

BRANDON DAVID LLOYD, a minor child, by and through his parents, ANTHONY D. LLOYD and DIANE S. LLOYD, and ANTHONY D. LLOYD and DIANE S. LLOYD, individually,

**Respondents.** 

#### ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT

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

In short, the reading of **§95.11(4)(b)** which we have proposed, and which the Third District adopted in the decision under review, is both sensible and logical. It gives ample scope for the "statute of repose" to operate upon torts which have been committed but which have gone undiscovered for four **years**, without extending its operation to embrace the far harsher absurdity which the defendants have proposed -- barring redress for a tort before the tort is even committed. In addition, **as** we have taken considerable pains to demonstrate, the logical, sensible reading given to the statute by the District Court is consistent with everything which this Court has ever written on the subject, and there is no support whatsoever in the decisional law for the defendants' peculiar construction of the word "incident" to mean the commission of a negligent **act** alone, even where it has caused no injury upon which suit can be brought. For all of these reasons, we respectfully submit that the District Court correctly read §95.11(4)(b), and that the statute did not bar the Lloyds' action for "wrongful birth," which **was** filed

*Maltempo v. Cuthbert,* 288 So.2d 517 (Fla. 2nd DCA), cert. denied, 297 So.2d 569 (Fla. 1974) (similar).

within two years from the date the defendants tortiously injured them.

## 2. Alternatively, if §95.11(4)(b) means what the defendants say it means, it is unconstitutional.

Although we frankly think it would be ludicrous for the **Court** to hold that the thrice-repeated word "incident" in §95.11(4)(b) means anything other than a completed tort -- especially since such a holding would also *necessarily* mean that the *statute* of *limitations* can begin to run in a medical malpractice case before the defendant has even committed a tort upon which suit can be brought -- the zeal with which the defendants have insisted on such a construction here requires us to advance a precautionary alternative position. We therefore assert that if the statute means what the defendants say it means, it violates Article I, §21, of the Florida Constitution. Of course, the mere fact that the defendants' peculiar construction of the statute creates the potential for such a problem is reason enough by itself to construe the statute in favor of the more sensible reading we have proposed, as the District Court did below. This Court may avoid the constitutional problem presented by the defendants' construction in the same way, of course, and we urge it to do so. However, in the event that it has accepted the defendants' contention that both the statute of limitations and the statute of repose begin to run in a medical malpractice case upon the commission of a negligent act alone, whether it has caused an injury or not, we respectfully ask the **Court** to hear us out briefly on this alternative contention.

There was a time in the jurisprudence of Florida, of course, when statutes of repose were routinely declared **unconstitutional.**<sup>18/</sup> As the make-up of the Court changed, however, the meaning of Article I, §21, appears to have changed **as** well -- and in *Pullum v. Cincinnati, Inc.*, 476 So.2d 657 (Fla. 1985), *appeal dismissed*, 475 US. 1114,

LAW OFFICES.PODHURSTORSECKJOSEFSBERGEATON MEADOW OLIN & PERWIN, P.A.- OF COUNSEL. WALTER H. BECKHAM, JR. 25 WEST FLAGLER STREET - SUITE 800, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130-1780 13051 358-2800

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>/ See, e. g., Overland Construction Co. v. Sirmons, 369 So.2d 572 (Fla. 1979); Battilla v. Allis Chalmers Mfg. Co., 392 So.2d 874 (Fla. 1980); Diamond v. E.R Squibb & Sons, Inc., 397 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1984); Universal Engineering Corp. v. Perez, 451 So.2d 463 (Fla. 1984).

106 S. Ct. 1626, 90 L. Ed.2d 174 (1986), this Court receded from its earlier decision in *Battilla v. Allis Chalmers Mfg. Co.*, 392 So.2d 874 (Fla. 1980). The *reason* announced for the change of mind in *Pullum* was quite specific, however. According to this Court, it **was** perfectly rational for the legislature to restrict liability in products liability actions to a period of 12 years after the sale of a product (Article I, §21, notwithstanding), because "liability should be restricted to a time commensurate with the normal useful life of manufacturer [sic] products" -- and a manufacturer should not be subjected to "perpetual liability" for products which have outlived their normal useful lives, 376 So.2d at 660, **659.**<sup>19/</sup> However, that kind of reasoning simply has no application to the obviously different question presented here -- whether Article I, 921, is violated by barring an action for "wrongful birth before the tort of "wrongful birth **has** even been committed.

In any event, *Pullum* expressly recognizes that this Court has consistently excepted one type of case from its recent change of mind -- the type of "delayed injury" case like the one involved here. The initial decision declaring a statute of repose unconstitutional in that type of case is *Diamord* v. E. R Squibb & Sons, 397 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1981). In *Diamond*, the plaintiffs complained that a drug ingested during pregnancy, which did not initially cause any injury, nevertheless "planted the seed" for a subsequent injury which manifested itself only after the child had reached adulthood. This **Court** held that the statute of repose violated Article I, §21, on those facts, because "petitioners' right of action was barred before it ever existed" -- 397 So.2d at 672. In the instant case, of course, if §95.11(4)(b) means what the defendants say it means, it barred the Lloyds' right of action "before it ever existed -- and if *Diamord* correctly states the law, then

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The question of whether such a statute would be constitutional if applied to a product which had a "normal useful life . . . obviously greater than most manufactured products," like an airplane, was left open by implication. Id. at 660. This aspect of the decision reinforces our conviction that *Pullum* was not meant to be quite as sweeping as the defense bar has consistently asserted it to be.

LAWOFFICES. PODHURST ORSECK JOSEFSBERG EATON MEADOW OLIN & PERWIN, P.A.- OF COUNSEL, WALTER H. BECKHAM, JR. 25 WEST FLAGLER STREET - SUITE 800, MIAMI. FLORIDA 33I30-1780 (305) 358-2800

the defendants' reading of **§95.1**1(4)(b) simply must be declared unconstitutional.

Later, when this Court flipped-flopped on the constitutionality of the products liability statute of repose in *Pullum*, it was careful to observe that *Diamond* was not being overruled:

Pullum also refers to Diamond v. E. R Squibb & Sons. Inc., 397 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1981), as being in accord with Battilla. In *Diamond*, we held that the operation of section 95.031(2) operated to bar a cause of action before it accrued and thereby denied the aggrieved plaintiff access to the courts. But **Diamond** presents an entirely different factual context than existed in either Battilla or the present case where the product first inflicted injury many years after its sale. In Diamond, the defective product, a drug known as diethylstilbestrol produced by Squibb, was ingested during plaintiffs mother's pregnancy shortly after purchase of the drug between The drug's effects, however, did not become 1955-1956. manifest until after plaintiff daughter reached puberty. Under the circumstances, if the statute applied, plaintiffs' claim would have been barred even though the injury caused by the product did not become evident until over twelve years after the product had been ingested. The legislature, no doubt, did not contemplate the application of this statute to the facts in **Diamond.** Were it applicable, there certainly would have been a denial of access to the courts.

476 So.2d at 659 n.\*.

A similar conclusion has been reached for asbestosis cases -- that it would be unconstitutional for a statute of repose to "foreclose the plaintiffs cause of action before he received any indication that it existed." *Vilardebo v. Keene Corp.*, 431 So.2d 620, 622 (Fla. 3rd DCA), *appeal dismissed*, 438 So.2d 831 (Fla. 1983). And this Court recently reaffirmed the exception represented by *Diamond* as follows:

> ... We have recognized that, because of the delay between the mother's ingestion of the drug and the manifestation of the injury to the plaintiff, DES cases must be accorded different treatment than other products liability actions for statute of repose purposes. See Pullum v. Cincinnati, Inc., 476 So.2d 657, 659 n.\* (Fla. 1985), appeal dismissed, 475 U.S. 1114 (1986); Diamond v. E. R Squibb & Sons, Inc., 397 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1981).

Conley v. Boyle Dag Co., 570 So.2d 275, 283 (Fla. 1990).

This distinction was carefully maintained in the decision which ultimately upheld the constitutionality of the statute of repose contained in §95.11(4)(b), **as** it applied to the facts. In **Carr v. Broward County, 505** So.2d 568 (Fla. 4th DCA **1987**), *approved*, 541 So.2d 92 (Fla. 1989), the Fourth District **was** careful to distinguish between (1) completed torts which have simply gone undiscovered during the repose period, and (2) tortious conduct which has merely "implanted ... the seed that eventually will flower into injury" after the statute of repose has run. 505 So.2d at **573.** It acknowledged that a statute of repose which purported to bar the latter type of case would violate Article I, 921, but held that the facts before it involved the first **type** of case -- because "[t]he injury to infant Carr was a completed fact" (505 So.2d at 574) at the time the negligent conduct occurred, and the thus-completed "incident," although capable of discovery within the statute of repose period, had not been discovered in time.

When the *Carr* case reached this Court, this Court was again careful to preserve the area carved out in *Diamond*. The Court specifically noted (as the Fourth District had noted in distinguishing the case from the different "implanted seed" cases), that "the brain injury to the Carr infant was a completed fact at the time of birth" -- i. e., that a discoverable injury had occurred at the time of the negligent act -- and it held that the statute of repose was therefore constitutional "under the circumstances of this case." *Carr v. Broward County*, 541 So.2d 92, 94, 95 (Fla. 1989). There is nothing in this Court's *Carr* decision which even arguably purports to overrule *Diamond*, or to retract the footnote in *Pullum* which expressly preserved *Diamond*. Neither did this Court take issue with the Fourth District's observation that statutes of repose remain unconstitution-al in "implanted seed" cases. And, of course, *Diamond* was recently reaffirmed by this Court in *Conley*. *Diamond* and its progeny are therefore still good law.

As a result, the defendants have gone to exceptional lengths to distinguish the facts in **Diamond** from the facts in the instant case. The thrust of their argument is

that, in **Diamond**, the plaintiff-child was actually injured at the time her mother ingested the drug, and simply did not discover her injury until it manifested itself twenty years later -- whereas, in the instant case, the Lloyds suffered no injury until Brandon was born. With apologies to Justice McDonald (who read the majority's decision in **Diamond** in that fashion in his specially concurring opinion, to square it with the position he had taken in dissent in Battilla), we do not believe that is a fair reading of Diamond. Certainly the parents of the child, who were authorized to proceed on their 20-year old claims notwithstanding the statute of repose, suffered no injury when the drug was ingested. And neither, we think, did the plaintiff-child, since the injuries upon which she brought suit were a cancerous lesion which did not develop until nearly two decades later, and additional lesions which might occur in the future. See Diamond v. E. R Squibb & Sons, Inc., 366 So.2d 1221 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979), quashed, 397 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1981). Moreover, the majority's decision did not even arguably draw the distinction drawn by Justice McDonald. It simply declared the statute of repose unconstitutional because the "petitioners' right of action was barred before it ever existed." Diamond, *supra* at 672.<sup>20/</sup>

We therefore believe that the Fourth District used exactly the right metaphor when it concluded in *Carr* that a statute of repose cannot constitutionally bar redress for tortious conduct which *"implanted. . . the seed that eventually will flower into injury"* after the statute of repose has run. 505 So.2d at 573 (emphasis supplied). We also believe

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20/</sup> Neither did the Court's reexplanation of *Diamond*, in the footnote in which it preserved *Diamond* in *Pullum*, adopt Justice McDonald's characterization of the facts. It merely noted that the drug was ingested during the mother's pregnancy; that "[t]he drug's effects, however, did not become manifest until after plaintiff daughter reached puberty"; and that, if the statute applied, plaintiffs' claims would have been barred even though the injury caused by the product did not become evident until over 12 years after the product had been ingested. *Pullum, supra,* 476 So.2d at 659 n\*. There is no commitment in this language to the notion that the plaintiff-daughter actually suffered an injury at the time her mother ingested the drug; it is perfectly consistent with the notion that the injury was both caused and manifested itself outside the period of the statute of repose.

LAW OFFICES, PODHURST ORSECK JOSEFSBERG EATON MEADOW OLIN& PERWIN, P.A.- OF COUNSEL, WALTER H. BECKHAM, JR. 25 WEST FLAGLER STREET - SUITE 800, MIAMI. FLORIDA 33(30-1780 (305) 358-2800

that the instant case falls squarely within that category. While the defendants' various negligent acts did not initially cause a "wrongful birth (just **as** the DES ingested by Mrs. Diamond did not initially cause any cancer in her daughter), those negligent **acts** certainly planted the seed which ultimately flowered into a "wrongful birth" when the Lloyds relied upon the defendants and their negligent advice, foreswore birth control, **and** attempted to procreate -- resulting in three pregnancies, two of which ended **in** miscarriages, and one of which bore the misshapen flower of a tragically deformed child. Each of **those** pregnancies was the direct result of the poison seed placed in the Lloyds' minds by the negligent testing and advice, and not one of them would ever have occurred if the defendants had not negligently misdiagnosed the cause of Michael's horrible abnormalities in the first instance.

In short, the "delayed injury" represented by the "wrongful birth" of Brandon was not something which simply happened because Mrs. Lloyd had a genetic defect (**as** one set of defendants has disingenuously asserted here); it was the direct result of a perfectly predictable chain of events initially set in motion by the defendants' negligence, just **as** the daughter's cancer in *Diamond* was the ultimate result of the chain of events precipitated by her mother's ingestion of DES. Frankly, we cannot conceive of a case which would be a better paradigm for the "implanted seed" cases than the instant case -- and if *Diamond* is still the law in this Court (and it was the last time this Court spoke to the point in *Conley*), then (if it means what the defendants say it means) §95.11(4)-(b) barred the Lloyds' causes of action for "wrongful birth before they ever existed, and it is therefore unconstitutional in the circumstances of this case.

Before we close, we must address one additional point -- the defendants' contention that the constitutional right of access to the courts provided by Article I, §21, is no right at all on the facts of this case. According to the defendants, this provision of the Constitution must be ignored here -- and the legislature must be allowed to abolish the Lloyds' causes of action with an absurd statute of repose which bars those

claims before they ever existed -- because no cause of action for "wrongful birth" existed prior to 1968. This argument was not raised in any manner, shape, or form below, however, and it was therefore clearly waived -- and the Court should not consider it as a result.

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